

EMES CONFERENCES SELECTED PAPERS SERIES

"The Third Sector and Sustainable Social Change: New Frontiers for Research" Barcelona (Spain) - July 9-12, 2008

> 8th ISTR International Conference 2nd EMES-ISTR European Conference in partnership with CINEFOGO

THE PARTICIPATION OF THE THIRD SECTOR IN THE CO-PRODUCTION AND THE CO-CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC POLICY

Yves Vaillancourt Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada

Copyright © 2009 Yves Vaillancourt

Any portion of these materials is freely available for information and educational purposes, but cannot be re-published in any format that may entail fees or royalties without the express permission of the copyright holders.

ABOUT THE EMES CONFERENCES SELECTED PAPERS SERIES:

This series aims to ensure that selected papers from conferences in which EMES has been involved will be accessible to a larger community interested in the third sector and social enterprise. EMES Conferences Selected Papers have not undergone any editing process.

All the papers of the series are available for download at www.emes.net.

CONTENTS

Introduction	3
1. Some theoretical clarifications	4
State, market, civil society, third sector, social economy Public policy	
2. Co-production of public policy	8
Four co-production models Nuria Cunill's contribution Victor Pestoff's contribution	10
3. Co-construction of public policy and contribution of the social economy	11
Monoconstruction of public policy Neoliberal co-construction Corporatist co-construction Democratic, solidarity-based co-construction	12 13
4. Illustration of the democratic co-construction model using the case of social housing	15
Background to social policy in three stages The case of social housing	15
Conclusion	19
References	22

This paper is a by-product of broader research on the État stratège and the co-construction of public policy (see Vaillancourt, 2008 and 2007b). It was made possible through support from LAREPPS, CRISES, ARUC-ÉS (community-university research alliance or CURA in social economy) and the CURA in social innovation and community development. We thank seven individuals who read and commented on earlier versions: Marie Bouchard, Marie-Noëlle Ducharme, Jean-Marc Fontan, René Lachapelle, Philippe Leclerc, Ana Lucia Maldonado and Benoît Lévesque. Translation from the French was performed by David Llewellyn.

INTRODUCTION

In this paper, we will be talking a great deal about the democratization of public policy in Canada. But we will be doing so in the concern to establish bridges to the theme of democratization of public policy in Latin America. While our deliberations on public policy certainly build on the expertise we have developed concerning historical trends and recent reforms in social policy in Canada and Quebec, these deliberations are enriched by the fact that, for the past 15 years or so, to analyse the changes in the state and in public policy in our country more accurately, we have felt the need to monitor closely similar changes that are under way in a number of European and Latin American countries. In that context, we have made several study trips to Latin America and have been closely following developments in the Latin American literature on the democratization of the state and public policy, paying close attention to similarities and differences between societies of the North and those of the South. All this, while not making us a Latin American specialist, has nevertheless made us a specialist in public policy changes in the North who is interested in the North while being influenced by numerous discussions with stakeholders and researchers from the South who share similar research issues on the democratization of the state, the economy and society. I

In short, we will be reporting on some findings from our research on democratization of public policy. We will do so on the one hand by referring to the findings of certain theoretical and empirical research on specific social policy reforms, paying particular attention to certain reforms in which co-operation is seen between the state and stakeholders in the social and solidarity economy. We will also do so by taking into account certain literature reviews concerning the participation of stakeholders from civil society, the market, the third sector and the social and solidarity economy in the democratization of the state and public policy. It must be understood here that in our research, a large part of the originality of our framework stems from the fact that we are seeking to make the link between various segments of scientific literature which often evolve hermetically. We are referring here to segments of literature concerning the reform of the state and public administration, civil society, the third sector and the social and solidarity economy. It seems to us that researchers and stakeholders specializing in the social economy, both in the North and in the South, would benefit from being more familiar with the expertise of researchers and players specializing in the field of reform of the state and public policy and vice versa.²

The core of our thesis in the following pages will be to report on a number of our research findings, both theoretical and empirical, concerning the "democratizing" impact of the participation by the social economy in the application and definition of public policy. In that regard, we will be prompted to differentiate clearly between two concepts that are often treated as synonymous, that of the *co-construction* of public policy, and that of its *co-production*. For us, the difference between the two concepts is as follows: co-production

¹ The Latin American countries which we have had the opportunity to monitor more closely with respect to research in line with our centres of interest are Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Haiti, Mexico and Uruguay.

² For instance, in Latin America, when one examines the very rich literature on the democratization of the state and public policy as seen for instance in the CLAD journal *Reforma y Democracia* over the past 10 years or so, with a few exceptions (Elgue, 2004), one finds few references to the literature on the social and solidarity economy. On the other hand, among Latin American researchers recognized for their expertise in social and solidarity economy (Vuotto, 2003; Coraggio, 2004; Cattani, 2004; Coraggio and Gaiger, 2007; Singer, 2007; *La otra economia*, 2007), few references are made to the literature on the reform of the state and public administration. In Quebec, a reconciliation is currently being seen between researchers at ENAP (*École nationale d'administration publique*) and researchers specializing in social economy (Côté, Lévesque and Morneau, forthcoming in 2008).

refers to participation by stakeholders from civil society and the market in the implementation of public policy, while co-construction refers to participation by those very stakeholders in the design of public policy. Thus, co-construction stands upstream from the adoption of public policy, whereas co-production lies downstream, at the moment of its implementation.

To analyse the processes of co-construction and co-production of public policy, we use a conceptual framework responsive to the multiple configurations arising from the tangible evolution of interactions among three main spheres—the state, the market and civil society. By definition, public policy always involves participation by the state sphere and public authorities, since without state intervention there is no public policy. But the question to be considered is the following: Does state intervention in the genesis and application of public policy occur with or without participation by stakeholders from the market and civil society? Our answer to this question will be that the democratization and enhancement of public policy requires participation by collective and individual stakeholders from the market and civil society in its creation (co-construction) and its application (co-production). Clearly, to have good public policy, it is not enough merely to pay lip service to co-construction and co-production. Whence our concern to pinpoint the features and conditions of the configurations most compatible with the enhancement and democratization of public policy. Besides, in these configurations, we will find participation by social economy stakeholders.

The paper comprises four main sections. In the first, we clarify some concepts, in particular public policy, civil society and social economy. In the second, we look at the co-production of public policy. In the third, we examine the co-construction of public policy, with a view to identifying the features of a configuration model that is more democratic and solidarity-based, imbued with the contribution from the social economy. Finally, in the fourth section, we use the findings of our research on tangible cases of social policy reform, particularly in the field of social housing, to show that the democratic, solidarity-based model of co-construction and co-production of public policy, far from being solely a conceptual model, is to be found in certain social policy reforms that have occurred in Quebec and Canada over the past 20 years.

1. SOME THEORETICAL CLARIFICATIONS

To grasp more clearly, in theoretical and practical terms, our analysis of the democratization of public policy while being attentive to the contribution from the social economy, it is important to agree on the meaning we give to certain key concepts used in our conceptual framework. Cases in point are the concepts of state, market, civil society, third sector, social economy, public policy and social and solidarity economy.

State, market, civil society, third sector, social economy

In the introduction, we announced that that we would be taking into account interaction among the state, the market and civil society so as to pinpoint the nature and scope of the phenomena of co-construction and co-production of public policy. We also mentioned participation by stakeholders from the market and civil society in the definition and implementation of public policy. We pointed out our interest in a theoretical perspective in which the state works as part of a team with a variety of stakeholders from the market and civil society. In so doing, we reaffirmed our attachment to a tripolar approach responsive to the evolution of shared responsibilities among individual and collective stakeholders associated with the state, the market and civil society (Olvera, 1999: 20; Laville and Nyssens, 2001; Lévesque, 2003; Vaillancourt and Laville, 1998; Vaillancourt et al, 2004; Favreau, 2006). Opting for a tripolar perspective means distancing oneself from the binary approaches prevalent in the literature, whether those that examine solely the interaction between the state and the market or those focussing exclusively on interaction between the state and civil

society. In either case, there is a tunnel vision which impoverishes the analysis of problems and planning of solutions.

Concerning *the state*, note that the players associated with it may belong to a variety of political scenes (local, regional, national, continental or global). We make a distinction among the conventional branches of political power, namely, the executive branch (or the elected members of the political party running the government), the legislative branch (or all elected members from the various political parties) and the judiciary. Obviously, we distinguish the *political level*, including those with a mandate under representative democracy, from the *administrative level*, comprising those belonging to the public administration.

In passing, we note that depending on the *political system* chosen by a country, the number of states may increase or decrease. In countries with a *unitary* system, including Chile, Uruguay, Haiti, France and England, there are fewer states and, in the formal sense, fewer arenas where public policy is defined. In countries with a *federal* system, such as Canada, Mexico, Brazil, Argentina and Germany, there are more states. Thus in Canada, in addition to the federal state, there are 13 provincial and territorial states to which the Constitution gives significant powers to legislate on social policy. This explains why it is possible, in this paper, to distinguish the Quebec state from the Canadian state and to refer to specific Quebec social policy reforms in relation to those to be found in other provinces or throughout the federal state. According to some researchers, there is a connection to be made between the difficulties of decentralization and the fact that the Chilean political system is unitary (Garretón, 2007: 124 and 179; Waissbluth, Leyton and Inostroza, 2007).

As to *the market*, we see it as a sphere distinct from that of civil society. This clarification is an important one, since much of the literature on civil society remains confused in this regard. For us, the market refers to the individual and collective stakeholders in the labour market or the market economy (businesses, owners and executives, managers, employees and self-employed, unemployed, etc.). The market also refers to representation structures, including management and labour organizations.³

As to *civil society*, we recognize that it is not a uniform reality. In the tradition of CRISES and CIRIEC International (Lévesque, 2003; Lévesque and Thiry, forthcoming; Enjolras, 2006) and in company with a number of Latin American researchers (Dagnino, 2002; Olvera, 1999; Marinez, 2007; Garretón, 2007; Cunill, 2004; Oszlak, 2007), we refuse both to embellish it and to demonize it, and we focus on its potential for democratization. We have clearly noted theoretical debates currently under way, for instance in the periodical *Voluntas*, as to the advantages and disadvantages of definitions of civil society that are exclusively normative (concerned with differentiating between "good" and "bad" organizations), or solely descriptive (embarrassed at the possibility of including such organizations as Al-Qaeda within civil society) (Munck, 2006). We opt for a definition that is predominantly descriptive while retaining some elements put forward by Anheier: "Global civil society is the sphere of ideas, values, institutions, organizations, networks, and individuals that are (...)⁴ located *between* the family, the state, and the market" (2007: 10–11). In this definition, we find it helpful to differentiate the sphere of civil society not only from the state and the market, but also from the family. To pinpoint accurately the strengths and limitations of civil society with regard to

⁴ In this quotation, we have not retained the words "based on civility" as added by Anheier in an effort to revise an earlier definition so as to take into account criticisms from a current of literature that sought a more normative definition. We do not follow Anheier's route in this, because his addition of a qualitative criterion such as "based on civility" generates more problems than it solves. In fact, how does one set about differentiating organizations based on civility from those that are not?

³ Labour and management organizations represent stakeholders anchored in the labour market but, as associations safeguarding their members' rights and interests, they are also located in civil society.

the democratization of public policy, one must not ignore its relations with the state, the market and the family. As advocated by Garretón (2007: 48-50), one must take into account the socio-historical and socio-political matrix within which civil society exists, without erasing the place of conflict.

As to the concept of *third sector*, we have used it for the past 15 years or so, favouring a current of European literature⁵ which is interested both in social policy and in the possibly innovative input of third sector organizations in the democratization of social and public policy (Defourny and Monzon Campos, 1992; Means and Smith, 1994; Lewis, 1999 and 2004; Evers and Laville, 2004). The concept of third sector is narrower than that of civil society. But it is broader than that of social economy even if, in our earlier writings, we often treated them as synonyms (Vaillancourt et al, 2004), a little like Defourny and Monzon Campos (1992) and Evers and Laville (2004).

Concerning the concepts of *social economy*, *solidarity economy* and *social and solidarity economy*, let us begin by pointing out that we do not distinguish significantly between the concepts of social economy and solidarity economy. We would add that we like to use the expression social and solidarity economy, in the tradition of CIRIEC Canada (1998), the *Groupe d'économie solidarie du Québec* (GESQ) and the Intercontinental Network for the Promotion of the Social Solidarity Economy (RIPESS). Moreover, we subscribe to a broad, inclusive definition of the social economy which makes room for both the market and the non-market components, for instance, community and co-operative organizations which offer local services to individuals without charging user fees for those services (Vaillancourt et al, 2004; Vaillancourt, 2006 and 2008). As a result, stakeholders from the social economy can be anchored in both civil society (in particular for the non-market social economy) and the market (in particular for the market social economy).

The broad, inclusive definition of the social economy which we advocate emphasizes values and its influenced by the contribution of Belgian researchers (Defourny, Develtère and Fonteneau, 2001). It was taken up in Quebec by the *Chantier de l'économie sociale* (2001) and accepted by the Quebec government and the social partners at the October 1996 Summit on the Economy and Employment (Lévesque, Girard and Malo, 2001). According to that definition:

"Social economy organizations produce goods and services with a clear social mission and have these ideal-type characteristics and objectives:

-

⁵ In the European tradition, the third sector tends less to replace the state than to counterbalance it in the context of the post-welfare state crisis. In our review of the literature and debates on the third sector, within for example the activities of the International Society for Third Sector Research (ISTR), we noticed that Latin Americans tended to follow the U.S. tradition more than the European, so emphasizing the third sector is less consistent with placing greater emphasis on the state.

⁶ In Quebec, we made the deliberate choice in 1998 not to oppose the concepts of social and solidarity economy, and to put forward a perspective of social and solidarity economy that targets a new development model that stands out from both neo-liberalism and statism (CIRIEC Canada, 1998; Lévesque, 2003; Favreau, 2005 and 2006). This made-in-Quebec choice differs from the choice made in France by some solidarity economy movements which, for reasons associated with France's socio-historical context, prefer to oppose the concepts of solidarity economy and social economy strongly (Laville, 1994: 1-90). In Latin America, in particular in Brazil, one can observe a number of ongoing debates concerning the timeliness of opposing the concepts of social and solidarity economy. Thus, in the first issue of the journal *La Otra Economia*, the editor presented it as "the Latin American periodical of the social and solidarity economy." But, when one looks at the content of that issue, one discovers that several authors were tempted to prefer the term solidarity economy to the term social economy. Similarly, in the collective work published under the direction of Cattani (2004), most of the authors from Brazil and Argentina preferred to use the concept of solidarity economy.

- The mission is services to members and communities and non-profit oriented.
- Management is independent of government.
- Democratic decision-making by workers and/or users.
- People have priority over capital.
- Participation, empowerment, individual, and collective responsibility." (*Chantier de l'économie sociale*, 2001: 29; Vaillancourt et al, 2004: 315).

The legal status of these organizations and enterprises may be that of co-operatives, associations or mutual organizations.

Public policy

The concept of public policy⁷ encompasses that of social policy.⁸ At the same time, it shares many of the features of social policy. Public policy nevertheless is broader than social policy. It can also include policy with respect to education, transportation, immigration, housing, local and industrial development, environment, and so on.

The expression "public policy", just like "social policy", contains the word "policy", which refers to intervention by the state or public authorities. This intervention tends to redistribute income and support citizenship. It takes place in order to foster the general interest that is jeopardized when one relies merely on the operation of market laws or the resources of family solidarity alone. The pursuit of the general interest involves functions of de-marketization and de-familialization on the part of the state, to use the expressions formulated by Esping-Anderson (1999). Intervention by the public authorities may take a large variety of forms, including legislation, regulations, policy statements, white papers, budget announcements and fiscal measures. Without state intervention, there is no public policy. But by relying solely on state intervention, it is difficult to obtain quality social and public policy. And that is where the distinction between co-construction and co-production of policy starts to be helpful.

In recent writings devoted to the definition of social policy with implications for the definition of public policy (Vaillancourt and Ducharme, 2001; Vaillancourt, in Tremblay, Tremblay and Tremblay, 2006: 25–28), we have applied ourselves to reconciling two goals: to value state intervention, and to find a way of doing so without erasing the input from stakeholders from civil society and the market, in particular those from the social economy. This work is more necessary than ever since the end of the golden age of welfare state era policy. In fact, in the 1970s and 1980s, we had often acquired the habit, in progressive circles, of valuing intervention by the state in defining its role as if the state were the sole architect of social and public policy. But with the hindsight gained following the welfare state and employment crisis of the 1980s, some progressive circles tried to adjust their focus so as to tighten the links between that policy and the needs of the communities concerned (Jetté et al, 2000; Vaillancourt, Aubry and Jetté, 2003; Vaillancourt et al, 2004). To borrow another of Garretón's expressions, the Left's concern with seeking a new paradigm for development became twofold: How to foster "a protective state that is much more active in economic life and in the task of redistribution" while permitting "greater control by the citizen of both the market and the state?" (Garretón, 2007: 193–194).

_

⁷ A number of ideas on public policy developed in Vaillancourt and Charpentier (2005: 111–7) are taken up here. ⁸ Owing to our more extensive research experience in the social policy field, one specific component of public policy among others, we tend to base our work more on our theoretical, historical and empirical knowledge developed in the field of social policy to address the concept and reality of public policy.

To break down the various stages involved in the genesis of public policy, we often refer to *six dimensions*: 1) identification of the *main goals* for attaining the general interest; ⁹ 2) choice of *regulation* standards to foster quality; 3) determination of *funding* means (state, private, mixed, etc.); 4) definition of responsibility-sharing with respect to *management*; 5) arrangement of responsibility-sharing with respect to the *delivery* of services belonging to public policy; 6) establishment of the policy for *evaluating* public policy.

This breaking-down of public policy into six components can help us in examining the processes of co-construction and co-production in a detailed, precise manner, as we shall see in the following sections. Provided, however, that we do not do so with a mechanical rigidity that would lead us to lose sight of the fact that public policy, once adopted, never becomes permanent. On the contrary, it always remains exposed to being amended once again, and this gives rise to multiple phases of construction, de-construction and re-construction. This means that the institutional arrangements stemming from the adoption of public policy remain constantly likely to move and that, as a result, the production and co-construction of public policy often have to be begun again.

2. CO-PRODUCTION OF PUBLIC POLICY

The term co-production is often heard in common parlance, for instance with respect to co-production of movies. The international literature on co-production is extensive, and has existed for the past 30 years or more. It looks on the one hand at the co-production of services of public interest to designate activities (or organizations or enterprises) in which users (or clients or citizens) participate in production and management on the same basis as employees (Laville, 2005). On the other hand, there is also research literature specifically concerning the co-production of public policy, and that it what interests us here.

Four co-production models

Co-production concerns *the application* (or organization or production) of public policy. It occurs when the state is not alone in being involved in the implementation of a public policy, but shares responsibility with non-state organizations, from the private sector, the third sector, or both sectors at once. Four scenarios may be seen here.

- First scenario: there is not co-production, but monoproduction. The policy is funded from the public purse; it is administered by organizations from the state public sector; the services are delivered by public sector employees. In Quebec, the policy on income security (or social assistance) is organized according to that model.
- Second scenario: there is co-production, with exclusive or principal participation by organizations from the private sector. This gives rise to a form of public-private partnership (PPP). In Quebec, public policy on accommodation and housing for dependent seniors is organized according to this model insofar as private for-profit residences constitute the main component of the service offering, whereas components coming under the public sector and the third sector remain in the minority (Vaillancourt and Charpentier, 2005). In a number of societies and policy fields, this type of configuration ties in with a neo-liberal perspective preoccupied with arranging the disengagement or non-engagement of the state and giving precedence to market

⁹ We grant that the general interest is never totally attained at a given moment in a given society. It is an ideal type which societies may come close to achieving provided they tend toward it with all their strength by the appropriate means.

¹⁰ In another paper, we took a close look at the literature on the co-production of services of public interest, in particular the literature from administrative sciences and sociology of work (Vaillancourt, 2008: 3–5). This question is also addressed by Pestoff, Osborne and Brandsen (2007: 593).

logic (Rouillard et al, 2004; Rouillard, 2006). A number of privatization policies introduced in Brazil and Argentina during the 1990s followed this model.

- Third scenario: there is co-production, with principal or exclusive participation by organizations rs from the third sector. The state entrusts the administration and delivery of part or all of homecare services to co-operatives or non-profit associations, that is, stakeholders from the social economy. In Quebec, the family policy with respect to childcare centres implemented since 1997 is organized according to this model. Funding and regulation of the policy lies primarily with the public sector, but the administration and delivery of services is the responsibility of third sector organizations. We can observe that this type of co-production often arises in the field of local services: transportation; garbage collection; waste recycling; food distribution; social housing; development of parks and public spaces; social services; etc. (Bresser and Cunill, 1998; Batley, 2007; Ndiaye, 2005). A number of researchers, including Oscar Oszlak, have highlighted the potential contribution of NGOs in that regard: "NGOs can play a crucial role in the co-production and co-management of socially valuable services." (2007: 58).
- Fourth scenario: there is co-production, with mixed participation by organizations from the private sector and the third sector. In this case, the administration and delivery of homecare services is the responsibility of a mix of organizations from both the public sector, the private sector and the third sector, in varying proportions. The prevailing model in Quebec in home services policy concerning the elderly and disabled is similar to this mixed scenario. The service offering is primarily the responsibility of the public sector, but significant components come under the private sector and third sector. This type of co-production has been described as a "welfare mix" or "mixed economy of welfare" by some researchers (Evers and Laville, 2004: 14–17, 137, 169; Pestoff, 2006: 511–513).

In short, the co-production of policy is deployed *at an organizational level* (in the organization of products and services), and it is possible to find it on a *macro* level (in a given national policy in a given specific public policy area) or on a *micro* level (in a given public policy of a given municipal administration) (Rich, 1981; Brito, 2002; Bifarello, 2000; Ndiaye, 2005; Kliksberg, 2007).

In our own research work and in this paper, we are especially interested in the third scenario concerning co-production, that is, in the model of co-production calling significantly on participation by organizations from the third sector and the social economy. It is not a question of idealizing this model and wanting to impose it in all areas of public policy. We should mention immediately, to avoid any misunderstanding, that the contribution of co-production to the democratization of public policy stems less from the number of stakeholders from the third sector present in this policy than from the quality of the relations created between the state and the third sector (Vaillancourt and Laville, 1998; Lewis, 1999 and 2004; Pestoff, 2006; Proulx, Bourque and Savard, 2007).

In any case, co-production involving participation by the third sector gives rise to a variety of socio-economic practices which abound in the societies of the South (Bresser and Cunill, 1998; Bifarello, 2000; Ndiaye, 2005; Vitale, 2005; Batley, 2007) and the North (Vaillancourt and Laville, 1998; Lewis, 1999 and 2004; Pestoff, 2006; Proulx, Bourque and Savard, 2007). Several researchers have studied this form of co-production, seeing in it a possible contribution to greater democratization of the economy and society (Favreau and Salam Fall, 2007; Cunill, 2004; Pestoff, 2006).

Among these authors, there are two whose contribution we wish to emphasize: Nuria Cunill and Victor Pestoff.

Nuria Cunill's contribution

We will spend less time on the contribution of Nuria Cunill, a Chilean public administration expert belonging to the progressive CLAD movement, because we have had the opportunity to examine her theoretical contribution in greater depth elsewhere (Vaillancourt, 2007b: 11-12). In her writings, Nuria Cunill formally uses the concept of co-production of public policy. But she does not formally use those of third sector and social and solidarity economy, while nevertheless showing great sensitivity toward the principles and values of the social and solidarity economy. In a highly influential text on the co-production of public policy, Cunill (2004) works to show that co-production could have a more democratizing scope if the state, in seeking its partners, were to tear eyes away from the market (and private, for-profit enterprises) and begin to see the possible contribution of another type of stakeholders. She shows this sensitivity by making the distinction between two forms of private realities, namely, the for-profit private sector "guided by market logic" and the "private sector guided by the logic of solidarity," referring among other things to co-operatives and certain NGOs (Cunill, 2004: 26–28). In so doing, Cunill points to a scenario of *solidarity-based* co-production or co-production "guided by the logic of solidarity." Implicitly at least, hers stands out from a bipolar approach (public / private), and opens the way to a tripolar framework (state / market / third sector). 12

Victor Pestoff's contribution

There is also the contribution of Victor Pestoff, a U.S.-born Swedish political scientist who has often contributed to the work of CIRIEC International by conducting case studies on participation by the third sector in the transformation of public policy in Sweden. In a recent article entitled "Citizens and co-production of welfare services," Pestoff reported on comparative research under way in eight European countries concerning childcare services. In using the concept of co-production, Pestoff looks at the configuration of responsibilitysharing among the state, the private sector and the third sector in public policy under certain Swedish municipalities. He expresses his interest in a co-production framework in which the role of the state concerns funding and regulation, while that of the third sector focusses on management and delivery of welfare services (Pestoff, 2006: 517). He argues in his article that, when third sector organizations are associated with the co-production of collective child services, they have a capacity to broaden and deepen the democratic governance exercised by the public authorities. These forms of governance that are open to participation by the third sector are often deployed, in Sweden, for instance, in local areas under the aegis of municipal public authorities. The issue then becomes the sharing of power and responsibility (financial, political, educational and social) among a variety of collective stakeholders (including the parents of children in childcare centres and childcare centre personnel) and the public authorities concerned in the local area (2006: 511-513). Pestoff thus displays his preference for services provided by the third sector, emphasizing that parents' participation is easier there than in public or private, for-profit services (Pestoff, 2006: 515). In short, for Pestoff, it is

_

¹¹ Here is a significant extract from Cunill's paper: "Co-operative structures self-managed by local communities for the delivery of public services are probably the maximum expression of citizens' influence on public administration, as well as being the model par excellence of societal government. This type of institution which "empowers" citizens to exercise control over themselves more than over others is at the other extreme from the bureaucratic model that generates political passivity and dependency" (Cunill, 2004: 26). [Our translation] 12 This openness of Nuria Cunill's to a tripolar framework is expressed even more clearly in an unpublished paper (Cunill, forthcoming in 2008).

third sector organizations that are the best placed to foster this plural participation with a "democratizing" reach. On certain conditions, clearly, such as being able to count on adequate public funding (2006: 515) and appropriate regulation (2006: 517).

In our view, the contribution of Cunill, Pestoff and other authors in the same theoretical vein is important for the democratization of public policy. But this contribution *appears to be limited to the organizational dimension* of public policy, insofar as participation appears to be valued at the moment when policy is applied, and not necessarily at the moment when it is defined. With such a viewpoint, we find ourselves close to the boundary between co-production and co-construction of public policy, but we do not cross it, and to our mind that is regrettable.

3. CO-CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC POLICY AND CONTRIBUTION OF THE SOCIAL ECONOMY

We have seen that co-production of public policy, especially when arranged according to the third scenario, which entrusts a significant role to stakeholders from the third sector, can constitute a major advance for democratization. But this advance remains limited and incomplete if it is limited to the organizational dimension. To go beyond this limitation, co-production has to be combined with elements of true co-construction, which is deployed at an institutional level in relation to the establishment of the general directions and foundational elements of the public policy itself.

In this section, we therefore look at the co-construction of public policy, trying to pinpoint various configurations with which it may be associated and giving priority to the features of a democratic configuration in which the social economy provides significant input. Unlike the concept of co-production, that of co-construction of public policy receives little mention in the literature, whence the importance of benchmarking it clearly.

As we mentioned earlier, co-construction concerns public policy when it is being designed and not merely when it is being implemented. It is deployed upstream, in other words, when public policy is being conceived. Our interest in the co-construction of public policy is tied to the idea that it can become more democratic if the state agrees not to construct it all on its own. We suggest that the democratization of such policy would gain from this, at least in some societies, at certain moments in certain specific policy areas, if the state worked to co-construct it by partnering with stakeholders from the market and civil society, not to mention from the social economy.

To distinguish the conditions of the co-construction model which interests us, it is enlightening to state a variety of scenarios in which the state constructs policy on its own or co-constructs it with other socio-economic agents.

Monoconstruction of public policy

There are moments in history and societies where the state is not a co-constructor of public policy insofar as it constructs public policy all on its own. To grasp the concept of the state as a partner in the co-construction of policy, it is helpful to distinguish it from its opposite.

It is a question here of an authoritarian, hierarchical, entrepreneurial state which emerged in several *Northern countries*, during the *Trente Glorieuses*, the 30 years following World War II (Enjolras, 2005 and 2006; Vaillancourt, 2007b). Examples include the French state and the Canadian federal state of 1945–1975, and the Quebec state of the Quiet Revolution and the Castonguay reform of the 1960s and 1970s. In these scenarios, the classic conception of accountability in representative democracy makes elected officials solely accountable. It is based on lessons drawn from historical periods prior to 1945–1975 during which the state was

tossed at will by market forces, the family and civil society. But this leads directly to the shortcomings of the hierarchical state which, to stand out more clearly from the laissez-faire attitude in vogue during the 1930s crisis, sometimes found itself at the other end of the pendulum.

In the countries of the South, particularly in Latin America, the form of authoritarian state that constructs public policy on its own-or monoconstructs-has historically prevailed in other forms than in the North. In some countries, the trend to monoconstruct public policy remains a legacy of the military dictatorships that prevailed in Chile from 1973 to 1989 (Garretón, 2007: 77-82), Brazil from 1965 to 1980 (Dagnino, 2002: 21-76), Argentina from 1976 to 1983 (Oszlak, 2007), Uruguay, Paraguay, Bolivia, and so on. Certainly, since the 1980s and 1990s, those countries have made the transition to democracy, but that democracy often remains fragile, incomplete and hampered by the persistence of authoritarian enclaves. Other countries did not formally experience military dictatorships, but they did undergo long periods of civil war, coups d'état and revolutionary turmoil, as in Salvador, Nicaragua and Guatemala. Or they experienced a 70-year period of single-party rule, as in Mexico until 2000 (Garretón, 2007: 42-44; Marinez, 2007: 332-333). There is also the unique case of that other country— Haiti—which formally won its independence as far back as 1804 but which, over the following 200 years, for one reason or another, including the 29 years of dictatorship under Duvalier Father and Son (1957–1986), has always awaited a lasting transition to democratic life and the emergence of a state of law (Woog, 2004; Élie, 2006).

Thus, in both Northern and Southern societies, the model of monoconstruction of public policy remains current and hinders the transition to co-construction. One is often in the presence of a form of interventionist, bureaucratic state which tends to see itself as a referee above the fray, like a great planner, entrepreneur and operator. This state acts in an authoritarian manner, seeing itself as solely responsible for public policy. This is all compatible with the recourse to co-production in one form or another, as there is nothing to prevent the state from constructing its policy alone, while using the private sector and third sector to implement it.

Neoliberal co-construction

For there to be co-construction of public policy, it is necessary for the state to favour open forms of governance which make room for participation by social stakeholders from non-state sectors, that is, the market and civil society. Before looking at the benefits of this form of co-construction, it is important to remember that, in the recent evolution of capitalist societies, in various Northern and Southern countries, many co-constructed public policies were created as a result of special links established between the state and socio-economic elites anchored in market forces. Without returning to simplistic representations borrowed from the Marxist structuralism made popular during the 1970s, which suggested that the state is an instrument at the service of the dominant classes (Harnecker, 1971), it has to be recognized that the state is not neutral. It leans toward certain social forces rather than others, and is anchored in inegalitarian social relationships marked by class, gender, intercultural and other divisions.

In short, to be in a position to grasp more clearly and foster the possible, desirable contribution of the market and civil society to the co-construction of public policy, it should be recognized that co-construction can be conceptualized and operationalized in various ways, some of which may be less compatible than others with the pursuit of the general interest. Consider two forms of co-construction in particular, neo-liberal co-construction and

¹³ We refer here to a book by Marta Harnecker (1971), a Chilean disciple of Louis Althusser. This work was frequently re-issued at the time, and its publication had a major influence on the Marxist structuralism current in several Latin American countries, and in Quebec, during the 1970s.

corporatist co-construction. In these two scenarios, the state enters into practices of policy co-construction. But the goal of pursuing the general interest is abandoned.

In *neo-liberal co-construction*, in vogue in the past few years in several countries, in particular with the popularity of the dominant managerial current of New Public Management (NPM) and the formula of public-private partnerships (PPPs), the state is encouraged to construct public policy by co-operating with the private sector, that is, with the dominant socio-economic agents in the market economy. In this neoliberal co-construction, there are institutional arrangements that favour competitive regulation often described as "Quasi-Markets" in the UK literature on social policy. This Quasi-Market regulation may be recognized by the fact that the state opens up the construction and production of policy to participation by organizations from the public, private and third sectors, while inviting those organizations to compete with one another for (Le Grand and Bartlett, 1993; Means and Smith, 1994; Lewis, 1999, 2004). It embodies a logic of market-driven instrumentalization, for instance through performance-related contractual clauses or reporting methods built into service agreements. Finally, it ties in with a logic of "shedding the load" of public responsibilities onto other stakeholders, at lower cost and with a fragile guarantee as to quality of services and jobs.

Corporatist co-construction

There is also the model of *corporatist co-construction* that is well known in Latin America. This model was also in vogue in Quebec in more traditional forms during the 1940s and 1950s, and in more modern forms during the 1970s and 1980s with the formula of sectoral socio-economic summits. In the two variants of the model, there is a form of co-operation between stakeholders from political society, the labour market and civil society. But these relations are deployed along lines that remain associated with unequal representation. Some sectors of socio-economic activity and stakeholders associated with labour and management circles are included in the dialogue and deliberation with the state, whereas others are excluded. The result is that certain groups of stakeholders have more weight than others, and that the co-construction of public policy is monopolized by special interests¹⁴ (Bresser Pereira and Cunill, 1998; Cunill, 2004; Brugué, 2004; Oszlak, 2007; Enjolras, 2006; Thériault, 2003; Garretón, 2007; Lévesque, 2007).

Democratic, solidarity-based co-construction

The democratic, solidarity-based co-construction that interests us is consistent with the pursuit of the general interest and keeps its distance from the neo-liberal and corporatist configurations. We will identify four features of this configuration.

First, the state remains a partner like no other. The thesis of co-construction suggests that the state co-constructs policy by co-operating with co-architects from the market and civil society. As mentioned in our work on the État stratège (Vaillancourt, 2007b), the thesis of co-construction does not mean the state stands on exactly the same footing as the other non-state stakeholders with which it co-constructs. Ultimately, the state has to rule alone on disagreements and is the one making the final decisions (Pierre and Peters, 2000). Certainly, it develops policy in close co-operation with stakeholders from the market economy and civil society. It dialogues, interacts and deliberates with non-state stakeholders. It remains both

_

¹⁴ In Latin American countries such as Mexico and Argentina, corporatism led to highly split, clientelist social policies that offer advantages to certain social groups (unionized civil servants, for instance) while leaving large segments of society without any social protection.

¹⁵ It should be emphasized that the debate is coloured by each stakeholder's special interests. The important thing here is the existence of public spaces where the stakeholders can become involved, even if often the policy defined does not fully satisfy each stakeholder's particular interest. For instance, in the case of the definition and

above and close to them. In that way, it avoids becoming enclosed in a position of self-sufficiency and omnipotence.

Second, democratic co-construction builds on a reform of the state that enables it to become a partner of civil society without for all that ceasing to be a partner of stakeholders from the market economy. It differs from an anti-capitalist co-construction in which the state would be the partner of civil society against the stakeholders from and principles of the market economy. It ties in with a plural economy perspective (Lévesque, Bourque and Forgues, 2001: 59–65), having drawn lessons from the failures of real socialism in the former Communist countries since the fall of the Berlin Wall. Thus, it seeks a break with neo-liberalism, but not with the market economy (Julliard, 2007). It targets a reform of the state which Jon Pierre (2005) calls "participatory reform." This reform refuses to remain focussed on the state or the market. In this reform, the "state's strength derives from its capacity to call on the resources of all segments of society with a view to achieving collective goals and meeting the collective interest" (Pierre, 2005). This vision is timely in the countries of both the South and the North (Salam Fall, Favreau and Larose, 2004: 1–43; Ndiaye, 2005).

Third, democratic co-construction involves a deliberation between the best of representative democracy and the best of participatory democracy (Thériault, 2003; Cunill, 2004; Enjolras, 2006). This perspective differs from certain vogues which on the one hand encourage the demonization of representative democracy (on the grounds that all politicians are dishonest) and on the other hand discredit participatory democracy (on the grounds that it immobilizes the state by making it hostage to interest groups). While acknowledging that representative democracy ultimately has the last word, the co-construction promoted here implies that elected officials establish open, inclusive forms of governance in which dialogue is favoured between the elected officials and the leaders of the participatory democracy. This supposes the existence of interfaces, forums for mediation and deliberation, public spaces, encouraging gateways (Enjolras, 2006; Dagnino, 2002). This also requires qualities of democratic facilitation both from the leaders of the state and political parties, and from the leaders of civil society. Competent, democratic political facilitation and leadership here involves the ability to recognize and manage conflict, and foster the broadening of forms of governance by including socio-economic and socio-political stakeholders that are often excluded, or rarely listened to (Brito, 2002; Brugué, 2004; Vaillancourt, 2007b).

Fourth, the democratic, solidarity-based co-construction of quality public policy involves recognition of the participation by stakeholders from the social economy as well as a partner-type relationship between the state and those stakeholders. It is not a case here of asking for a privilege for the social economy as if one wanted it to become a pressure group that would dictate to the public authorities its order in terms of public policy. Rather, it is a case of enabling the social economy to express its voice among those of other stakeholders at the moment when public policy and programs are defined. The issue is that of enabling the social economy to move beyond the status of a mere tool or instrument of the state in the application of public policy plans co-constructed without it. It is that of permitting the establishment of a partner-type relationship, that is, a non-instrumental relationship, between the state and the

legitimization of environmental policy in Quebec, we find participation by the private sector and civil society, and by the state. There are certain spaces in which, one way or another, these three types of stakeholders can be involved in co-construction (*Conférence régionale des élus, Conseil régional de l'environnement, Bureau des audiences publiques sur l'environnement* [BAPE], etc.). But this does not mean that the final outcome always meets the expectations of all the stakeholders involved (Maldonado González, forthcoming in 2008).

¹⁶ Along with other authors (Favreau, 2005; Julliard, 2007; Garreton, 2007: 91–2), we feel it is important to distinguish clearly the break with capitalism from that with neo-liberalism, and this invites us to talk of capitalism and the alternatives in the plural, and not just in the singular.

social economy. In a partnership interface, stakeholders from the social economy retain a degree of *autonomy* in relation to the state (Proulx, Bourque and Savard, 2007; Lewis, 1999 and 2004; Vaillancourt and Laville, 1998; Thiry and Lévesque, forthcoming in 2008).

In short, seen this way, solidarity-based co-construction is not a luxury, but a necessity for a democracy. In fact, when stakeholders from civil society and the social economy are forgotten or instrumentalized in the relationship with the state, public policy is impoverished, because it reproduces the downside of competitive or bureaucratic regulation. At the same time, this public policy becomes less fair and inclusive. Whence the criticism addressed by the social economy at the institutional arrangements most often found in PPP-style initiatives. This criticism blames PPPs for often being similar to a binary co-construction calling exclusively on the state / market pairing and depriving itself of the input from the social economy (Conseil de la coopération du Québec, 2004; Chantier de l'économie sociale, 2001, 2005; Lévesque, 2003; Vaillancourt, 2007b).

Thus, after maintaining our distance both from the monoconstruction model and from the neo-liberal and corporatist co-construction models, we have underscored our preference for a democratic co-construction model that builds both on participation by stakeholders from the market and civil society and on that of the social economy that promises social innovation based on successful experiments.

4. ILLUSTRATION OF THE DEMOCRATIC CO-CONSTRUCTION MODEL USING THE CASE OF SOCIAL HOUSING¹⁷

To facilitate a better understanding of the scope of our theoretical positions, we will illustrate our thesis using concrete cases of social policy reform that have occurred in Canada, and more specifically in Quebec. This will make it possible to see that the democratic and solidarity-based model of co-production and co-construction of public policy presented above constitutes more than a conceptual device. It is a model that has tangibly left its mark on the recent history of social development in Quebec. To document this statement, we will first briefly run over the history of social policy, then we will look at the case of social housing.

Background to social policy in three stages

In view of the subject of study chosen in this paper, we can "re-read" the history of social policy by distinguishing *three stages*. ¹⁸

In the *first stage* (1920–1960), the Quebec state was very reluctant to intervene in social policy, and when it did so, it favoured co-production, but not co-construction of public policy. In this co-production, in the health and welfare field, for instance, there was strong use of third sector organizations largely dominated by the Church. One thinks, for instance, of the (non-profit) social service agencies of the 1950s and 1960s. In this co-production, relations between the state and third sector organizations remained instrumental rather than partnership-based.

In a *second stage* (1960–1980) corresponding to the development of the Quiet Revolution and the Castonguay reform, the Quebec social state intervened relatively alone to construct and produce welfare state-type social policy (Jetté et al, 2000). This led to a period of *monoconstruction* of public policy along with a moderate dose of co-production. In this co-production, stakeholders from the third sector and the social economy had a real but marginal presence and a low profile (Jetté, 2005 and 2008). Emphasizing the "state public sector" combines with minimizing the value of the "non-state public sector."

¹⁸ For a more detailed presentation of this historical re-reading, see Vaillancourt, 2008: 16–18 and 2007b: 14–19.

¹⁷ Marie-Noëlle Ducharme's comments and suggestions were very helpful to us in writing this section.

In a *third stage* (1980–2008), which arose in a context of crisis and transformation of the welfare state, more co-production and co-construction of social policy is to be found, with, in some fields, participation by stakeholders from the market and civil society within which the social economy is present and recognized, particularly in certain social policy reforms from the mid-1990s onward (Vaillancourt, 2003; Jetté, 2005; Ulysse and Lesemann, 2007).

Specifically, it was during this third stage that certain innovative reforms made their appearance which clearly illustrate the democratic, solidarity-based configuration of co-construction of public policy presented in Section 3. In these reforms one finds, to varying degrees, partnership-based relations between the state and the social economy.

The case of social housing

In our research papers over the past 10 years, we have closely monitored the evolution of several social policy reforms which illustrate the model of solidarity-based co-construction presented above. We looked among other things at the issues of co-operation between community organizations in the health and social services field, and in the area of the labour market integration of socially vulnerable individuals, such as young people and disabled persons. We studied the case of family social policy, which since 1997 has led to the development of 1,000 childcare centres caring for children aged 0–5. We worked on the transformation of public policy concerning institutional and community care for frail elderly people as well as disabled persons. We also closely monitored public policy trends with respect to social housing for economically and socially vulnerable individuals. In all these reforms one finds, in varying configurations, a degree of participation by stakeholders from the social economy and the third sector in forms of co-production and co-construction of public policy. But since we lack space here to appraise each case, we shall restrict ourselves to social housing.

The social housing field in Quebec is a fascinating laboratory with respect to *social innovation*, in terms of both social practices and public policy. Social housing practices and policy evolved from a mode comprising elements of co-production (until 1990) to a mode resolutely focussed on the co-production and co-construction of public policy, along with strong participation by the social economy. To grasp this statement more clearly, let us first look at the context.

First, these social innovations occurred paradoxically in difficult budgetary conditions. On the one hand, Canada's provinces and territories have little fiscal leeway for creating social housing. On the other hand, from 1993 onward, there was a brutal withdrawal of joint funding by the federal state. This funding had made it possible, since the 1950s, to share the cost of new social housing programs put forward by the provincial and territorial governments. ²⁰ In this difficult context, Quebec was, along with British Columbia and Manitoba, one of the few Canadian provinces to develop new social housing programs (Vaillancourt and Ducharme, 2001; Dansereau, 2005: 22–23).

_

¹⁹ See a number of papers in which these tangible cases of reform are analysed in greater depth: Vaillancourt and Tremblay, 2002: 37–58; Vaillancourt, 2003; Vaillancourt, Aubry and Jetté, 2003; Vaillancourt et al, 2004; Vaillancourt, 2007b: 18–22; Jetté, 2005 and 2008.

²⁰ Since 2000, the federal government has begun once again to participate in the funding of certain provincial initiatives. But it has done so timidly in reference to provincial programs concerning narrowly targeted clienteles (such as the homeless).

Second, these innovations often occurred through the social practices which emerged in a local or regional area, without even benefiting from a public policy that contributed to supporting them. Once these innovative social practices proved their worth and were recognized as successful experiments, they began to be publicized and become points of reference, and this had the effect of encouraging public decision-makers to develop new public policy to support such practices. In this way, public policy helps disseminate and perpetuate timely innovations tested in conclusive experiments. That is what we call the transition from experimentation to institutionalization.

Third, the main protagonists of social housing innovations come from the third sector and the public sector. Among stakeholders from the third sector and the social economy are the housing co-operatives and NPOs, as well as their regional and province-wide federations. There are also the Groupes de ressources techniques (GRT); the Front d'action populaire en réaménagement urbain (FRAPRU); low-income housing tenant associations and their Quebec-wide federation, and so on. Stakeholders from the public sector are also very involved, in particular with the development of community action practices in low-income housing (Morin, Aubry and Vaillancourt, 2007; Morin, 2007). Among stakeholders from the public sector, there are of course the elected officials responsible for housing issues in the Quebec state. There are also managers and practitioners from the municipal housing bureaus, the Société d'habitation du Québec (SHQ), the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) and other provincial, regional and local public agencies called upon to work with stakeholders from the housing sector. We are thinking among others of several players in the health and social services network. In fact, for the past 20 years, the social innovations that have led to advances in public practices and policy in social housing have often been the outcome of close co-operation between social economy and public sector stakeholders.

Here now are *four illustrations of participation by the social economy and the third sector* in the co-production and co-construction of public policy on social housing.

The first example is proof positive of the participation by the social economy in the co-production of public policy. This participation began as early as the 1960s, but increased during the 1970s, when the federal state altered its social housing cost-sharing programs so as to permit the provinces taking advantage of them to develop new social housing units that could come under not only the public sector (i.e., the low-income housing formula), but also housing co-operatives and non-profit organizations (NPOs). The Quebec government was quick to take advantage of this change in federal policy. From the 1970s onward, it developed programs in the housing field that broke with monoproduction and built on co-production.²¹ In fact, under these programs, the new housing units created came from both the social economy and the public sector. Low-income housing continued to be built, but at the same time the development of housing co-operatives and NPOs was favoured. As the Quebec state had been slow adopting its housing policy (in 1967), the golden age of low-income housing was not as long-lived in Quebec as it was elsewhere in Canada. As a result, from the 1980s and in particular from the 1990s, the place of the social economy in the total number of housing units became historically greater in Quebec than in the other provinces. This trend was accentuated from 1997 onward, with the implementation of the AccèsLogis program. This Quebec program gives priority to projects from local areas and favours participation by the

-

²¹ While this transition was taking place from monoproduction to co-production of Quebec's housing policy, this policy, like the federal policy, remained somewhat monoconstructed, inasmuch as the definition of policy remained the business of the state alone. From the 1990s, Quebec public policy would evolve toward co-construction insofar as the third sector partners associated with the production would finally succeed in imposing themselves in the development of several areas of public policy itself.

social economy in the application of public policy on housing. Through *AccèsLogis*, 20,000 new social housing units were developed from 1997 to 2007. And housing co-operatives and NPOs accounted for the vast majority of these units (Vaillancourt and Ducharme, 2001; Ducharme, 2006).

The second example of innovation concerns the creation of technical resource groups (Groupes de ressources techniques, or GRTs) in the late 1970s, a device which contributed to consolidation of the participation by the social economy in the co-production of public policy on housing in Quebec. The recognition and support of GRTs by the Quebec state marked the appearance of a new tool which fostered the emergence of several housing innovations. The GRTs are non-profit organizations, that is, organizations coming not under the public sector but under the third sector. They were entrusted with a major role within the application of Quebec's public policy on housing of the past 25 years. They share the values of participation, democratization, accessibility and local development specific to the social economy. They are essential travelling companions for the housing co-operatives and NPOs (Bouchard and Hudon, 2005).

Quebec's community housing fund (Fonds québécois d'habitation communautaire, or FQHC) is a third example testifying to the participation by the social economy not only in the co-production but also in the co-construction of public policy. The FQHC was set up in 1997 with the mission of promoting the development of social housing in the social economy sector. While created by the Quebec state, it has a structure consisting of a majority of stakeholders from various components of the social economy. It plays the role of gateway between the public sector, third sector and private sector. It is an intermediary body, a public space for deliberation which favours a reconciliation between the input from representative democracy and that from participatory democracy in public policy decision-making (Ducharme and Vaillancourt, 2000 and 2006; Dansereau, 2005; Bouchard and Hudon, 2005). The FQHC symbolizes and promotes the partnership between the third sector and the public sector in social housing, as three researchers explain:

"In Quebec, groups of non-profit organizations (NPOs) and co-operatives also play a major role as partners of the public authorities, with which they regularly negotiate the application of policy and programs. These organizations have become front-line players on the social housing scene; notably, they were associated with the creation, in 1997, of the *Fonds québécois de l'habitation communautaire* (a mediating and consultation body called upon to monitor the application of community-type social housing programs) and are among its managers." (Divay, Séguin and Sénéchal, in Dansereau, 2005: 37) [Our translation]

This quotation draws attention to the participation by the FQHC and the third sector not only in the co-production of housing practices and policy, but also in their co-construction. That is what the researchers from the INRS are saying when they point out that stakeholders from the third sector were "associated with the creation of the FQHC" or that they "regularly negotiate the application of policy and programs." The FQHC is an original device which arose from co-construction and fosters it in return. It played a key role in particular in the development of the *AccèsLogis* and *Affordable Housing* programs in Quebec (Ducharme and Vaillancourt, 2006; Bouchard and Hudon, 2005: 12). As Marie Bouchard and Marcellin Hudon state, "the parameters of the [*AccèsLogis*] program were discussed and negotiated with the community" (2005: 5).

Social housing with community support is a fourth example of co-production and co-construction. This example clearly illustrates the contribution of the social economy to the

co-production of new innovative practices, which often end up opening the way to the emergence of public policy co-produced and co-constructed with input from the social economy. This issue has been closely monitored by LAREPPS since 1995. In a first exhaustive research on the topic, conducted on the practices of the Montreal federation of housing NPOs (Fédération des OSBL d'habitation de Montréal, or FOHM), LAREPPS showed that these innovative practices contributed to improving the living conditions of the FOHM's lessees (single people, homeless, with mental health or drug addiction problems, etc.) (Jetté et al, 1998; Thériault et al, 1997 and 2001; FOHM, 1997). LAREPPS emphasized above all that the long-term funding of these practices was a problem, since it constantly depended on local and regional stakeholders' resourcefulness. Consequently, the LAREPPS researchers recommended, as early as 1998, that the Quebec government adopt a clear, sustainable funding policy for the community support part in social housing practices with community support for socially and socio-economically vulnerable individuals (Jetté et al, 1998: 198-199). These recommendations were often repeated in subsequent work on residential resource needs for a broader vulnerable clientele, in particular for elderly people experiencing a slight decrease in autonomy and disabled persons (Vaillancourt and Ducharme, 2001; Ducharme and Vaillancourt, 2002; Ducharme, Lalonde and Vaillancourt, 2005; Vaillancourt and Charpentier, 2005; Vaillancourt, 2007a; Proulx et al, 2006: 140–145). They were taken up again by other researchers (Dansereau, 2005: 38-39) and stakeholder groups, in particular the Quebec housing NPO network (Réseau québécois d'OSBL d'habitation) (RQOH, 2004 and 2007; Roy, 2007). They were repeated by public agencies concerned, such as the Société d'habitation du Québec, municipal housing bureaus and the Quebec Ministry of Health and Social Services (ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux, or MSSS) (MSSS and SHQ, 2007). In November 2007, the Quebec government announced a new public policy to institutionalize funding of the community support component in the social housing with community support formula (MSSS and SSQ, 2007). This example is striking, but it is not the only one.²²

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we can summarize our thesis by saying that, in social housing as in other areas of practice and policy, the presence of the social economy contributes to a *triple democratization*. In fact, it fosters the democratization both of practices, of policy development (co-construction) and of operationalization of new policy (co-production). The growing presence of stakeholders from the social economy in social housing practices and policy responds to the aspiration of the population groups targeted by these interventions to exercise greater control over their living and housing conditions. The flexibility of the co-operative and association-based formulas leads to innovations, such as the participation of users and citizens in management, targeting of population groups that are marginalized or have special problems (women, Aboriginal communities, disabled persons, homeless, etc.), and reinforcement of the economic, social and political citizenship of certain fringes of society that are especially exposed to exclusion.

_

²² Among the other public policies on housing that were co-constructed with participation by the social economy and other stakeholders from civil society is the reform, introduced in 2002, of the rules of governance for municipal housing bureaus (*Offices municipaux d'habitation*, or OMH). In fact, among the provisions of Bill 49 amending the *Act respecting the Société d'habitation du Québec*, a number led to formal recognition of lessees' right of association and encouraged participation by low-income housing lessee association representatives on the municipal housing bureaus' boards of directors (Morin, 2007: 149). The democratization of the form of governance of public social housing institutions stems from the dissemination in the public sector of certain innovations in governance practices previously tested in housing co-operatives and NPOs (Vaillancourt and Charpentier, 2005: chapter 4; Ducharme, 2006).

We were prompted, based both on literature reviews and on analyses of certain recent social policy reforms, to differentiate clearly between co-production and co-construction of public policy. We have observed that the social economy could participate both in the development and in the application of this public policy. At the same time, we have highlighted the fact that the social economy, depending on the configurations in which it stood, could contribute to the democratization and enhancement of public policy by making it more fair and inclusive in terms of redistribution of wealth and power.

In fact, we have argued in favour of public policy capable of integrating elements of both co-production and co-construction. Co-production is not a rare commodity. Moreover, it can very well exist in policy constructed by a hierarchical, authoritarian state that is used to deciding everything all on its own. For us, there are two issues to which priority should be given.

The first issue refers to the importance of legitimizing a form of co-production that calls on the third sector and offers an alternative to the market co-production sometimes known as the Welfare Mix or PPP. This form of co-production has long existed in many Northern and Southern societies, as the scientific literature reveals. But in that literature, the dominant current, while sometimes open to the third sector, conveys a neo-liberal and neo-conservative vision of the state which reduces civil society to the private sector and seeks a public administration "influenced by an entrepreneurship in which the government is inspired by meeting the client's needs and not citizens' needs" (Marinez, 2007: 21–22). Fortunately, other writings refer to scenarios that interest us more, that is, to partnership formulas in which the social economy is recognized and supported by the public authorities. Whence the interest we have expressed in the writings of Pestoff (2006) and Cunill (2004), who conceptualized the benefits of partner-type practices between the state and the third sector. These papers put forward alternatives to the privatization and market co-production of the dominant current of New Public Management. They argue in favour of co-production based on co-operation between the state and the third sector, hypothesizing that this option is more contributory to the democratization of public policy.

The *second issue* concerns the importance of fostering, at least in certain public policy issues, a close bond between co-production and co-construction. In fact, if this bond is not made, is not participation by stakeholders from civil society (including the social economy) likely to remain enclosed in the organizational dimension of public policy while leaving the state responsible for looking after its institutional dimension all on its own? By leaving the state the monopoly on the definition of public policy, are we not depriving ourselves of essential levers for fostering the development of policy that does not ignore the general interest and is open to democratic governance? In our view, a very close conceptual and practical relationship can be established between co-production (of services of public interest and policy), on the one hand, and co-construction (of policy) on the other.

That is why, throughout our paper, we have argued in favour of a theoretical and practical position that valued participation by stakeholders from civil society and the market, without ignoring those from the social economy, not only downstream (at the moment of co-production), but also upstream (at the moment of co-construction) of public policy. We have expressed this position by building on the expertise of our Quebec and Canadian research teams on the social economy of certain researchers belonging to CIRIEC International, including Lévesque and Thiry (forthcoming in 2008) and Enjolras (2006).

In closing, we acknowledge that in our perusal of the Latin American literature on the democratization of public policy, we did not formally find this distinction between co-production and co-construction of public policy. But it seemed to us that several Latin

American researchers, starting from other theoretical avenues, came to this. For instance, the current in the literature pleading in favour of broadening "citizen control" over public policy (Marinez, 2007: 334–335; Garretón, 2007; Cunill, forthcoming in 2008) certainly targets, initially, opportunities for criticizing existing policy, which could have been constructed by the state all on its own. But, along the way, if the critical function becomes effective, is it not on the point of contributing to reshaping the content of public policy and becoming fully involved in its potential reconstruction? That discussion may be worth pursuing.

REFERENCES

- ANHEIER, Helmut K. (2007). "Reflections on the Concept and Measurement of Global Civil Society," *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 18(1), March 2007, 1–15.
- BATLEY, Richard (2007). "Governments and non-state service providers: Engaged or divorced?" *Capacity.ORG*, *A gateway for capacity development*, 30, March, 6 p. Text downloadable from www.capacity.org/en/content/view/full/262.
- BIFARELLO, Mónica (2000). *Public-Third Sector Partnerships. A Major Innovation in Argentinian Social Policy*, Paper presented to ISTR Fourth International Conference, Dublin, July 2000, 30 p.
- BOUCHARD, Marie J. and Marcellin HUDON (2005). Le logement coopératif et associatif comme innovation sociale émanant de la société civile, Montreal, Les cahiers de la Chaire de recherche du Canada en économie sociale, C-2005-01, April 2005, 19 p.
- BRESSER PEREIRA, Luiz Carlos and Nuria CUNILL GRAU (dir.) (1998). *Lo Público no estatal en la Reforma del Estado*, Buenos Aires, Barcelona and Mexico City, Paidós and CLAD, 466 p.
- BRITO, Morelba (2002). ""Buen gobierno" local y calidad de la democracia," *Instituciones y desarrollo*, 12-13, 249–275. Text available at www.iigov.org.
- BRUGUÉ, Quim (2004). "Modernizar la administración desde la izquierda: burocracia, nueva gestión pública y administración deliberativa," *Reforma y Democracia*, CLAD, 29, June 2004.
- CATTANI, Antonio David (Ed.) (2004). *La otra economía*, Buenos Aires, Universidad Nacional de General Sarmiento, Altamira and Fundación OSDE, 441 p.
- CHANTIER DE L'ÉCONOMIE SOCIALE (2001). De nouveau, nous osons... Document de positionnement stratégique, Chantier de l'économie sociale, Montreal, January, 30 p.
- CHANTIER DE L'ÉCONOMIE SOCIALE, in collaboration with the Canadian Community Economic Development Network (CCEDNet) and Alliance Recherche Universités-Communautés en économie sociale (ARUC-ÉS) (2005). Social Economy and Community Economic Development in Canada: Next Steps for Public Policy, Montreal, September 21, 2005, 95 p.
- CIRIEC-Canada (1998). *Appel pour une économie sociale et solidaire*, Montreal, May 1998, 10 p.
- CONSEIL DE LA COOPÉRATION DU QUÉBEC (CCQ) (2004). Vers un réel partenariat public / coopératif, Quebec City, September 10, 2004, 18 p.
- CORAGGIO, José Luis (2004). La gente o el capital. Desarrollo local y economía del trabajo, Buenos Aires, Espacio Editores, 352 p.
- CORAGGIO, José Luis and Luis Ignacio GAIGER (2007). "Presentación de esta Edición," *Otra Economía. Revista Latinoamericana de Economía Social y Solidaria*, 1(1), 2nd semester 2007, 4–7. See www.riless.org/otraeconomia.
- CÔTÉ, Louis, LÉVESQUE, Benoît and Guy MORNEAU (dir.) (forthcoming in 2008). *Pour un État stratège ouvert à la participation citoyenne*, Quebec City, PUQ.

- CUNILL GRAU, Nuria (2004). "La democratización de la Administración Pública. Los mitos a vencer," in Bresser Pereira, L. C., Cunill Grau, N., Garnier, L., Oszlak, O. and A. Przeworski (2004). *Politíca y gestión pública*, Buenos Aires, Fondo de Cultura Económica, CLAD, 217 p.
- CUNILL GRAU, Nuria (forthcoming in 2008). "La construcción de ciudadanía desde una institutionalidad pública ampliada," in PNUD (forthcoming), *Contribuciónes al Debate: Estado y Democracía de Ciudadanía en América Latina*, Ed. Myrsa, Lima.
- DAGNINO, Evelina (dir.) (2002). Sociedad civil, esfera pública y democratización en América Latina: Brasil, Editora Unicamp, Fundo de cultura económica, Mexico City, 419 p.
- DANSEREAU, Francine (dir.) (2005). *Politiques et interventions en habitation. Analyse des tendances récentes en Amérique du Nord et en Europe*, Quebec City, Les Presses de l'Université Laval and Société d'habitation du Québec, 240 p.
- DEFOURNY, Jacques and José Luis MONZON CAMPOS (Eds) (1992). Économie sociale. Entre économie capitaliste et économie publique / The Third Sector. Cooperative, Mutual and Nonprofit Organizations, Brussels, CIRIEC and De Boeck Université, 459 p.
- DEFOURNY, Jacques, DEVELTERE, Patrick and Benedicte FONTENEAU (Eds) (2001). *La economía social en el Norte y en el Sur*, Corregidor, Buenos Aires.
- DUCHARME, Marie-Noëlle (2006). Les habitations à loyer modique publiques destinées aux aîné-e-s: Portrait sectoriel, Cahier du LAREPPS 06-05, Montreal, 88 p.
- DUCHARME, Marie-Noëlle and Yves VAILLANCOURT, in collaboration with François Aubry (2002). *Portrait des organismes sans but lucratif sur l'île de Montréal*, LAREPPS in collaboration with the Fédération des OSBL d'habitation de Montréal (FOHM), Montreal, UQAM, Cahiers du LAREPPS, 02-05, May 2002, 80 p.
- DUCHARME, Marie-Noëlle, LALONDE, Luc and Yves VAILLANCOURT (2005). "L'économie sociale au cœur des pratiques novatrices en logement social, l'expérience du Québec," in Amintas, Alain, Gouzien, Annie and Pascal Perrot (dir.), *Les chantiers de l'économie sociale et solidaire*, Rennes, Presses universitaires de Rennes, 157–169.
- DUCHARME, Marie-Noëlle and Yves VAILLANCOURT (2006). "À l'orée d'une gouvernance associative? L'expérience du Fonds québécois d'habitation communautaire," *Économie et Solidarités*, 36(1), 2005 [published in May 2006], 110–125.
- ÉLIE, Jean Rénol (2006). Participation, décentralisation, collectivités territoriales en Haïti. La Problématique, Port-au-Prince, L'Imprimeur II, Sociologie, 324 p.
- ENJOLRAS, Bernard (2005). "Économie sociale et solidaire et régimes de gouvernance," *RECMA: Revue internationale de l'économie sociale*, 296, May 2005, 56–69.
- ENJOLRAS, Bernard (2006). Formes institutionnelles et changements institutionnels: le cas de la marchandisation des associations, doctoral thesis submitted as a partial requirement for the doctorate in sociology, UQAM, Montreal, June 2006, 232 p.
- ESPING-ANDERSON, Gosta (1999). Les trois mondes de l'État-providence. Essai sur le capitalisme moderne, Paris, PUF, coll. Le lien social, 310 p.
- EVERS, Adalbert and Jean-Louis LAVILLE (dir.) (2004). *The Third Sector in Europe*. Cheltenham, UK, Edward Elgar, 266 p.

- FAVREAU, Louis (2005). Économie sociale et politiques publiques: la question du renouvellement de l'État social au Nord et de sa construction au Sud, Cahiers du LAREPPS 05-17, UQAM, Montreal, July 2005, 39 p.
- FAVREAU, Louis (2006). "Social Economy and Public Policy," Horizons, 8(2), 6–15.
- FAVREAU, Louis (2007). "Balance del contexto internacional en el plano político desde la perspectiva de la economía solidaria," *uniRcoop*, 5(1) (June 2007), 51–75.
- FAVREAU, Louis and Abdou SALAM FALL (dir.) (2007). L'Afrique qui se refait. Initiatives socioéconomiques des communautés et développement en Afrique noire, Quebec City, PUQ, 393 p.
- FÉDÉRATION DES OSBL D'HABITATION DE MONTRÉAL (FOHM) (1997). Évaluation de l'intervention du logement social avec support communautaire pour des personnes seules, à faible revenu et à risque de marginalisation sociale dans les quartiers centraux de Montréal. document-synthèse des résultats préliminaires de la recherché. LAREPPS-UQAM, FOHM, CLSC Plateau Mont-Royal, SHQ, Montreal, June 1997, 16 p.
- GARRETÓN, Manuel Antonio (2007). Del Postpinochetismo a la Sociedad Democrática. Globalización y política en el Bicentenario, Santiago du Chili, Debate, 251 p.
- HARNECKER, Marta (1971). Los conceptos elementales del materialismo histórico, sixth edition revised and enlarged (first edition in 1969), presentation by Louis Althusser, Siglo Veinteuno, Mexico City, 341 p.
- JETTÉ, Christian, THÉRIAULT, Luc, MAHIEU, Réjean and Yves VAILLANCOURT (1998). Évaluation du logement social avec support communautaire à la Fédération des OSBL d'Habitation de Montréal (FOHM). Intervention auprès des personnes seules, à faibles revenus et à risque de marginalisation sociale dans les quartiers centraux de Montréal, Final report on research conducted in partnership with the FOHM, the SHQ and CLSC du Plateau Mont-Royal, February 1998, 215 p.
- JETTÉ, Christian, LÉVESQUE, Benoît, MAGER, Lucie and Yves VAILLANCOURT (2000). Économie sociale et transformation de l'État-providence dans le domaine de la santé et du bien-être: une recension des écrits (1990-2000), Sainte-Foy, PUQ, 202 p.
- JETTÉ, Christian (2005). Le Programme de soutien aux organismes communautaires du ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux: une forme institutionnelle structurante du modèle québécois de développement social (1971-2001), doctoral thesis, Department of Sociology, UQAM, Montreal, 625 p. This text was published in 2007 as a research paper: Cahiers du LAREPPS, 07-07.
- JETTÉ, Christian (2008). Les organisations communautaires et la transformation de l'Étatprovidence. Trois décennies de coconstruction des politiques publiques dans le domaine de la santé et des services sociaux, Quebec City, PUQ, 410 p.
- JULLIARD, Jacques (2007). "Réinventer la gauche," *Le nouvel observateur*, 2219, May 17, 2007, 20–21.
- KLIKSBERG, Bernardo (2007). "Cómo avanzar la participación en América latina, el continente más desigual? Anotaciones estratégicas," *Reforma y Democracia*, 37, February 2007, 37–80.
- LAVILLE, Jean-Louis (dir.) (1994). *L'économie solidaire. Une perspective internationale*, Paris, Desclée de Brouwer, 336 p.

- LAVILLE, Jean-Louis (2005). Sociologie des services. Entre marché et solidarité, Paris, Érès, 181 p.
- LAVILLE, Jean-Louis and Marthe NYSSENS (dir.) (2001). Les services sociaux entre associations, État et marché. L'aide aux personnes âgées, Paris, La Découverte / MAUSS / CRIDA, 288 p.
- LE GRAND, Julian and Will BARTLETT (dir.) (1993). *Quasi-Markets and Social Policy*, London, Macmillan, 241 p.
- LÉVESQUE, Benoît (2003). "Fonction de base et nouveau rôle des pouvoirs publics : vers un nouveau paradigme de l'État." *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics*, Oxford (Blackwell), 74(4), 489–513.
- LÉVESQUE, Benoît (2007). Un siècle et demi d'économie sociale au Québec: plusieurs configurations en présence (1850-2007), Joint publication CRISES/ÉNAP/ARUC-ÉS, Montreal, April 2007, 80 p.
- LÉVESQUE, Benoît, GIRARD, Jean-Pierre and Marie-Claire MALO (2001). "La antigua y nueva economía social. El caso de Québec," in DEFOURNY, Jacques, DEVELTERE, Patrick and Benedicte FONTENEAU (Eds) (2001). *La economía social en el Norte y en el Sur*, Corregidor, Buenos Aires, 299–333.
- LÉVESQUE, Benoît and Bernard THIRY (forthcoming in 2008). "Conclusions: Concurrence et partenariat, deux vecteurs de la reconfiguration des nouveaux régimes de la gouvernance des services sociaux et de santé," in Bernard ENJOLRAS (dir.). Gouvernance et intérêt général dans les services sociaux et de santé, Brussels, Peter Lang (Collection Économie sociale & Économie publique).
- LEWIS, Jane (1999). "Reviewing the Relationship Between the Voluntary Sector and the State in Britain in the 1990s," *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 10(3), September, 255–270.
- LEWIS, Jane (2004). "The state and the third sector in modern welfare states: independence, instrumentality, partnership," in EVERS, A. and J.-L. LAVILLE (dir.) (2004). *The Third Sector in Europe*. Cheltenham, UK, Edward Elgar, 169–187.
- MALDONADO GONZÁLEZ, Ana Lucía (forthcoming in 2008). La contribution de l'organisation communautaire et des participants à un mode de gouvernance civique en environnement dans trois régions administratives du Québec, doctoral thesis, School of Social Service, Faculty of Social Science, Laval University, Quebec City, 357 p.
- MARIÑEZ NAVARRO, Freddy (dir.) (2007). *Ciudadanos, decisiones públicas y calidad de la democracia*, Limusa Noriega Editores, Mexico City, 346 p.
- MEANS, Robin and Randall SMITH (dir.) (1994). *Community Care. Policy and Practice*, London, Macmillan, 277 p.
- MINISTÈRE DE LA SANTÉ ET DES SERVICES SOCIAUX (MSSS) and SOCIÉTÉ D'HABITATION DU QUÉBEC (SHQ) (2007). Cadre de référence sur le soutien communautaire en logement social. Une intervention intersectorielle des réseaux de la santé et des services sociaux et de l'éducation, Quebec City, MSSS and SHQ, November 2007, 57 p.
- MORIN, Paul (2007). "Les pratiques d'action communautaire en milieu HLM: Un patrimoine d'expériences et de compétences," *Nouvelles pratiques sociales*, 19(2), 144–158.

- MORIN, Paul, AUBRY, François and Yves VAILLANCOURT (2007). Les pratiques d'action communautaire en milieu HLM. Inventaire analytique. Research report drafted by LAREPPS/UQAM for the Société d'habitation du Québec, Quebec City, Government of Quebec, May 2007, 179 p.
- MUNCK, Ronaldo (2006). "Global Civil Society: Royal Road or Slippery Path," *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 17(4), December 2006, 325–332.
- NDIAYE, Sambou (2005). La coproduction de services collectifs urbains en Afrique de l'Ouest, Canada Research Chair in Community Development, Comparaisons Internationales series, 22, Université du Québec en Outaouais, Gatineau, 25 p.
- OLVERA, Alberto J. (dir.) (1999). *La sociedad civil. De la teoría a la realidad*, El Colegio de México, Mexico City, 362 p.
- OSZLAK, Oscar (2007). "El Estado democrático en América Latina: Hacia el desarrollo de líneas de investigación," *Nueva Sociedad*, 210 (July-August 2007), 42–63.
- OTRA ECONOMÍA (2007). *Otra Economía. Revista Latinoamericana de Economía Social y Solidaria*, 1(1), 2nd semester 2007, Buenos Aires, 133 p. Journal Available in PDF format at: www.riless.org/otraeconomia.
- PESTOFF, Victor (2006). "Citizens and co-production of welfare services," *Public Management Review*, 8(4), 503–519.
- PESTOFF, Victor, OSBORNE, Stephen P. and Taco BRANDSEN (2006). "Patterns of co-production in public services. Some concluding thoughts," *Public Management Review*, 8(4), 591–596.
- PIERRE, Jon and B. Guy PETERS (2000). *Governance, Politics and the State*, New York, MacMillan Press Ltd and St. Martin's Press, 231 p.
- PIERRE, Jon (2005). "¿"Poder para"... o "poder sobre"?: repensando la fuerza del Estado," *Reforma y Democracia*, 32, June 2005.
- PROULX, Jean, DUMAIS, Lucie, CAILLOUETTE, Jacques and Yves VAILLANCOURT (2006). Les services aux personnes ayant des incapacités au Québec. Rôle des acteurs et dynamiques régionales, Montreal, Cahiers du LAREPPS, 06-12, November 2006, 217 p.
- PROULX, Jean, BOURQUE, Denis and Sébastien SAVARD (2007). "The Government-Third Sector Interface in Quebec," *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 18(3) (September 2007), 293–307.
- RÉSEAU QUÉBÉCOIS DES OSBL D'HABITATION (RQOH) (2004). Pour un programme de financement du soutien communautaire en OSBL d'habitation, RQOH, Montreal, December 2004, 12 p.
- RÉSEAU QUÉBÉCOIS DES OSBL D'HABITATION (RQOH) (2007). Parce que l'avenir nous habite. Les actes du colloque. Jeudi 9 novembre 2006, Montreal, RQOH, January 2007, 64 p.
- RICH, Richard C. (1981). "Interaction of the Voluntary and Governmental Sectors: Toward an Understanding of the Coproduction of Municipal Services," *Administration and Society*, 13(1), 59–76.

- ROUILLARD, Christian, MONTPETIT, Éric, FORTIER, Isabelle and Alain G. GAGNON (2004). La réingénierie de l'État. Vers un appauvrissement de la gouvernance québécoise, Quebec City, PUL, 181 p.
- ROUILLARD, Christian (2006). "Les partenariats public-privé et la reconfiguration de la gouvernance: Réflexion sur la construction d'un État entropique," *Les Cahiers du 27 juin*, 3(1), Winter / Spring 2006, 33–37.
- ROY, François (2007). "Pour une reconduction du Programme AccèsLogis," *Le Devoir*, May 23, 2007, A7.
- SALAM FALL, Abdou, FAVREAU, Louis and Gérald LAROSE (dir.) (2004). Le Sud... et le Nord dans la mondialisation. Quelles alternatives? Le renouvellement des modèles de développement, PUQ and Karthala, Quebec City, 385 p.
- SINGER, Paul (2007). "Economia Solidária: democracia e conflitos entre iguais," *Otra Economía. Revista Latinoamericana de Economía Social y Solidaria*, 1(1), 2nd semester 2007, 14–16.
- THÉRIAULT, Joseph-Yvon (2003). "L'avenir de la social-démocratie au Québec," in Venne, Michel (dir.), *L'annuaire du Québec 2004*, Montreal, Fides, 631–640.
- THÉRIAULT, Luc, JETTÉ, Christian, MATHIEU, Réjean and Yves VAILLANCOURT (1997). "Qualité de vie et logement social avec 'support communautaire' à Montréal," *Canadian Social Work Review / revue canadienne de service social*, 14(1), Winter 1997.
- THÉRIAULT, Luc, JETTÉ, Christian, MATHIEU, Réjean and Yves VAILLANCOURT (2001). Social Housing with Community Support: A Study of the FOHM Experience, Ottawa, Caledon Institute of Social Policy, 33 pages. http://www.caledoninst.org/Publications/PDF/fohm.pdf.
- TREMBLAY, Marielle, TREMBLAY, Pierre-André and Suzanne TREMBLAY (dir.) (2006). Le développement social. Un enjeu pour l'économie sociale, Québec, PUQ, Collection Pratiques et politiques sociales et économiques, 358 p.
- ULYSSE, Pierre-Joseph and Frédéric LESEMANN (2007). Lutte contre la pauvreté, territorialité et développement social intégré. Le cas de Trois-Rivières, Quebec City, Presses de l'Université du Québec, Collection Problèmes sociaux et interventions sociales, 154 p.
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves and Jean-Louis LAVILLE (1998). "Les rapports entre associations et État: un enjeu politique," *Revue du MAUSS semestrielle*, 11, 1st semester 1998, 119–135.
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves and Marie-Noëlle DUCHARME (2001), with the collaboration of Robert Cohen, Claude Roy and Christian Jetté, *Social Housing A Key Component of Social Policies in Transformation: The Quebec Experience*, Ottawa, The Caledon Institute of Social Policy, September 2001, 35 p. www.caledoninst.org.
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves and Louise TREMBLAY (Eds.) (2002). Social Economy, Health and Welfare in Four Canadian Provinces, Halifax, Fernwood Publishing, 173 p.
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves, AUBRY, François and Christian JETTÉ (dir.) (2003). *L'économie sociale dans les services à domicile*, Quebec City, Presses de l'Université du Québec, 341 p.

- VAILLANCOURT, Yves, AUBRY, François, KEARNEY, Muriel, THÉRIAULT, Luc and Louise TREMBLAY (2004). "The Contribution of the Social Economy Towards Healthy Social Policy Reforms in Canada: A Quebec Viewpoint," in Dennis Raphael (Ed.), *Social Determinants of Health. Canadian Perspectives*, Toronto, Canadian Scholars' Press Inc., 311–329.
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves and Michèle CHARPENTIER (dir.) (2005). Les passerelles entre l'État, le marché et l'économie sociale dans les services de logement social et d'hébergement pour les personnes âgées, Montreal, LAREPPS, November 2005, 165 p.
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves (2003). "The Quebec Model in Social Policy and Its Interface with Canada's Social Union," in Fortin, S., Noël, A. and F. St-Hilaire (Eds), *Forging the Canadian Social Union: SUFA and Beyond*, Montreal, Institute for Research on Public Policy, 157–195.
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves (2006). "Le tiers secteur au Canada, un lieu de rencontre entre la tradition américaine et la tradition européenne," *Canadian Review of Social Policy*, 56, 23–39.
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves (2007a). "Le cadre national sur le soutien communautaire en logement social : un test pour la réforme Couillard," RQOH (2007). Parce que l'avenir nous habite. Les actes du colloque. Jeudi 9 novembre 2006, Montreal, RQOH, 35–40.
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves, in collaboration with Philippe Leclerc (2007b). Vers un État stratège, partenaire de la société civile, Cahiers du LAREPPS 07-10, jointly published with Les Cahiers du CRISES and Les Cahiers de l'ARUC-ISDC, Montreal, December 2007, 30 p. [This paper is forthcoming in 2008 as a chapter in a work on the État stratège to be published by PUQ under the direction of Louis Côté, Benoît Lévesque and Guy Morneau].
- VAILLANCOURT, Yves, in collaboration with Philippe Leclerc (2008). *Note de recherche sur l'apport de l'économie sociale dans la coproduction et la coconstruction des politiques publiques*, Cahiers du LAREPPS 08-01, jointly published with Les Cahiers du CRISES and Les Cahiers de l'ARUC-ISDC, January 2008, 32 p.
- VITALE, Denise (2005). "Reforma del Estado y democratización de la gestión pública: la experiencia brasileña del Presupuesto Participativo," *Reforma y Democracía*, 33, October 2005.
- VUOTTO, Mirta (Ed.) (2003). *Economía social. Precisiones conceptuales y algunas experiencias históricas*, Buenos Aires, Universidad Nacional de General Sarmiento, Altamira and Fundación OSDE, 255 p.
- WAISSBLUTH, Mario, LEYTON, Cristian and José INOSTROZA (2007). "La descentralización en Chile 1990-2005: asignatura pendiente," *Reforma y Democracia*, 37, February 2007, 223–242.
- WOOG, Patrick (2004). Haïti Métamorphoses, Haïti Futur, 262 p.